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By John M. Sikes, Jr.*

I. FEDERAL V. STATE CONTROL OF TAKEOVER Bins

In 1977, the General Assembly amended the Georgia Business Corpora-
tion Code to add a new chapter entitled "Corporate Takeovers."' The law
is designed to provide full and fair disclosure in connection with takeover
bids for the equity securities of certain domestic and foreign corporations.
When applicable, the act makes takeover bids unlawful unless they are
first subject to an effective registration statement filed with the Commis-
sioner of Securities and sent to the offeree company.' The act specifies
information which must be contained in the registration statement3 and
provides that the Commissioner of Securities may delay the effectiveness
of the registration statement if he determines it does not contain all of the
required information.' The offeror may seek a hearing5 and so may the
offeree company.' The Commissioner of Securities may deny the effective-
ness of the registration statement upon a finding it fails to provide the
mandated information.7 The statute contains antifraud provisions directed
to any offeror or offeree company, an officer, director or associate of either,
or any broker-dealer acting on behalf of either and engaging in a fraudu-
lent, deceptive, or manipulative practice.' The act provides for the pay-
ment of fees, administration by the Commissioner of Securities, jurisdic-
tion of superior courts to prosecute and enjoin violations,' and makes wilful
violations a felony in the case of conventional tender offers, and in certain
specified market acquisitions, a misdemeanor. 10

In 1978, thirty-one other states had similar statutes; the enforcement of
one gave rise to the Fifth Circuit's decision in Great Western United Corp.
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1. GA. CODE ANN. §§22-1901 to -1915 (1977).
2. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1902(a) (1977).
3. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1902(b) (1977).
4. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1902(d) (1977).
5. GA. CODE ANN. §§22-1902(d), 1907(b) (1977).
6. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1902(e) (1977).
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8. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1905 (1977).
9. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1910 (1977).
10. GA. CODE ANN. §§22-1901(f)(1)(A), (B), 1912 (1977).
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v. Kidwell.II The court of appeals. held, inter alia, that the Idaho statute
was pre-empted by the Exchange Act as amended by the Williams Act"
and that the Idaho law was further invalid under the Commerce Clause.
Before reaching the decisions on the merits, the court made important
rulings on (1) jurisdiction of a district court sitting in Texas over Idaho
officials who enforced the Idaho takeover law, (2) the permissible limit of
due process in utilizing the Texas long arm statute, (3) jurisdictional appli-
cation of §27 of the Exchange Act, and (4) venue under that Act as well
as the general venue statute, 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(1976).13

Plaintiff, Great Western United Corporation (Great Western), is "a pub-
licly owned Delaware corporation with its major executive offices in Dallas,
Texas. The principal officers, all directors, and the controlling sharehold-
ers of Great Western reside in Dallas."" Defendant Tom D. McEldowney,
as director of the Idaho Department of Finance, is charged with the respon-
sibility of enforcing the Idaho takeover statute.

Sunshine Mining and Metal Company is a Washington corporation with
its principal office and over half its assets in Idaho. These facts bring it
within the definition of "target company" under Idaho Code §30-1501(6)

11. 577 F.2d 1256 (5th Cir. 1978). The 31 other states and their statutory references are
included in note 2 of the court's opinion at 1261. In its amicus curiae brief in the Supreme
Court of the United States, the State of New York notes 36 states have now enacted statutes
regulating takeover bids to some extent.

12. 15 U.S.C.A. §78m(d) (Supp. 1978); 15 U.S.C.A. §§78m(e), 78n(d), (e), (f) (1971).
13. An appeal was filed November 7, 1978, and probable jurisdiction was noted January

8, 1979.
As this issue was going to press, the Supreme Court reversed KidweU, - U.S. -, 47

U.S.L.W. 4844 (June 26, 1979). The Supreme Court did not reach the merits or the constitu-
tional questions arising out of the attempt to assert jurisdiction over the Idaho officials.
Rather, the Court determined that there was a sound prudential justification for considering
venue in advance of personal jurisdiction: by doing so it could avoid "unnecessary decision
of novel constitutional questions." (47 U.S.L.W. 4846) The Court then held venue was impro-
per under §27 of the 1934 Act because §28 of that Act imposed no duty on the Idaho officials.
Nor was venue available under 28 U.S.C. §1"1(b) because ". . . [Tihe claim involved has
only one obvious locus - the District of Idaho", (47 U.S.LW. 4847) and the court rejected
the Appeals Court decision that "the 'claim arose' in Dallas because that is where Great
Western proposed to initiate its tender offer, and that is where Idaho's statute had its impact

... 47 U.S.L.W. at 4847.
Justices White, Brennan and Marshall dissented. The dissent argued, even if the claim did

not arise in Dallas for §1391(b) purposes, "The gist of the Act complained of being extraterri-
torial application of Idaho's statute, this act obviously occurs not only in Idaho but also in
the Districts where the extraterritorial tender offer is made." Further, §27 ". . . broadly
encompasses all suits to enforce 'any . . .duty created by' the Act. Here Respondent sought
an injunction against enforcement of Idaho's statute as applied to its interstate tender offer,
on the ground that such enforcement is pre-empted by and in conflict with the Williams Act.
The only question, then, is whether the Williams Act imposes on state officials, expressly or
impliedly, the duty not to enact or enforce legislation inconsistent therewith." (47 U.S.L.W.
at 4848).

14. 577 F.2d at 1260.
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(Cum. Supp. 1978).'1 Besides its activities in Idaho, Sunshine has a wholly
owned subsidiary based in Maryland and also does considerable business
in New York. Sunshine is a publicly owned company with its securities
traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

On March 21, 1977, after filing a Schedule 13D with the SEC pursuant
to the Exchange Act as amended by the Williams Act,' 6 Great Western
announced "its intention to make a tender offer for 2,000,000 shares of
Sunshine."" Idaho's takeover statute was applicable to Great Western's
offer. Idaho's law required Great Western

(1) to submit to the Director of the Idaho Department of Finance a
preeffective filing disclosing Great Western's intention to make a tender
offer and the terms of the offer; (2) to transmit, at the same time, a copy
of that filing to Sunshine; (3) to publish an advertisement describing the
intention to make an offer and the proposed material terms; (4) to pay the
Idaho registration fee; (5) to participate in a hearing, which would be
mandatory if Sunshine requested one and (6) to delay its tender offer until
the final determination of any administrative or injunctive proceeding
brought by the Director of Finance for violation of the Idaho takeover
law."8

At first Great Western attempted to comply with Idaho law. Idaho's Direc-
tor of the Department of Finance wrote Great Western, raising numerous
objections to the disclosure and requesting amendments. He summarily
ordered delay of the effective date of the Idaho registration. The New York
Attorney General's office advised that New York was "leaning" toward
asserting jurisdiction over the offer. Maryland notified Great Western that
a hearing would be required before it would comment on whether its take-
over law applid.

, On March 28, 1977 Great Western filed suit in the Northern District of
Texas against the state officials responsible for enforcing the Idaho, New
York, and Maryland takeover laws.' After a hearing, the district court
found that it had personal jurisdiction and proper venue as to the New
York and Idaho defendants. It dismissed the claim against Maryland,
because there was no showing that Maryland intended to enforce its stat-

15. Id. at 1263 n.12. See also GA. CODE ANN. §22-1901(g) (1977).
16. 15 U.S.C.A. §78i, 78m(e) (1971); 15 U.S.C.A. §§78m(b), (c), (d) (Supp. 1978); 15

U.S.C.A. §§78n(d), (e), (f) (1971). The tender offer was national in scope; therefore Great
Western was required to comply with the Securities & Exchange Act of 1934. The Exchange
Act was amended by the Williams Act, which includes disclosure requirements, substantive
restrictions on tender offers, and a general antifraud provision. It also confers broad rule-
making authority upon the SEC.

17. 577 F.2d at 1263.
18. Id. If the tender offer had been accepted by Sunshine's board of directors, Great

Western would not have had to comply with the Idaho rules.
19. Id. at 1264.
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ute. In a hearing on the merits, the .district court dismissed the case against
New York as moot and held that the Idaho takeover act violates the Com-
merce Clause and is pre-empted by the Williams Act. 0

The court of appeals affirmed. It rejected McEldowney's contention that
his status as a state official means that though he may be sued under Ex
Parte Young,2 he may not be sued outside Idaho without his consent. The
court "read Young to say that a state official enforcing a nonconstitutional
statute is an individual defendant and nothing more. Under the reasoning
of Ex Parte Young, the state has no interest in the lawsuit, for it is incapa-
ble of authorizing an unconstitutional act."2

The court held due process permits a Texas court "to exercise jurisdic-
tion over [an] Idaho official who has enforced [an] Idaho takeover law
to prevent a Texas-based corporation from proceeding with a national
tender offer." 3 Service was effected through the Texas long arm statute
which "authorizes assertion of personal jurisdiction over nonresidents to
the limits of due process." 2' Though appellant argued that all his activity
took place in Ohio, the court determined 'minimum contacts' however,
need not arise from actual physical activity in the forum state; activities
in other forums with foreseeable effects in the forum state will suffice." ' 5

The court distinguished Kulko v. Superior Court,2 which "continues to
recognize that the existence of personal jurisdiction turns upon the facts
of each case."" A New York citizen's consent that his children live in
California with his former wife was so insignificant it was not reasonable
for California to assert personal jurisdiction over the father. "Kulko does
not hold that a court considering an International Shoe question may not
look to effects within the forum unless the defendant's effect-producing
activity causes physical injury within the forum state or affects the defen-
dant's commercial transactions within the forum state."2' Here, Idaho's
"out-of-state regulation had the direct effect of stopping a substantial
commercial venture based in Texas. No other state had a greater connec-
tion with that venture than Texas."2' The court also rejected McEldow-
ney's protest that Great Western had voluntarily filed in Idaho by pointing
out that it had little choice, for its alternative was to risk criminal penalties
under the Idaho law. Under the circumstances, "[tihe first step in the

20. Great Western United Corp. v. Kidwell, 439 F. Supp. 420 (N.D. Tex. 1977).
21. 209 U.S. 123 (1908):
22. 577 F.2d at 1265.
23. Id. at 1266.
24. Id.
25. Id. at 1266, 1267.
26. - U.S. -, 98 S. Ct. 1690, 56 L. Ed. 2d 132 (1978).
27. 577 F.2d at 1267.
28. Id.
29. Id. at 1268 (emphasis in original).
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sequence came not from Texas, but from Idaho, where the filing require-
ment binding on Great Western was created." 3 Further, "[t]he impact
of their regulation was felt in Texas, as they intended it to be. Thus, they
did conduct activities in Texas ' 3' sufficient to satisfy Hanson v. Denckla.32

The court concluded that the Idaho takeover law amounted to regulation
of Great Western's Texas based business activities and this extra-
territorial regulation provided the necessary contact with Texas.

The court next considered §27 of the Exchange Act3 and found that it
provides another basis for personal jurisdiction if Great Western's com-
plaint states a claim under that Act. The court reasoned that because §28
of the Exchange Act" impliedly prohibits a state official from enforcing a
statute that conflicts with the Act, "Great Western's claim that the Idaho
takeover law conflicts with the Williams Act, therefore, appears to state a
claim under §28. "- The court determined that venue was proper under §27
of the Exchange Act, because the regulatory agencies of Idaho "had their
restraining effect at the corporate headquarters of Great Western in Dal-
las. "3 Finally, the court concluded that the proper district was the North-
ern District of Texas for purposes of the applicable general venue statute,37

because "'[tlhe offer was initiated in Dallas, Texas. If there is a single
place where the allegedly invalid restraint occurred, that place is Dallas.' "3

The court next considered the pre-emption question and held that the
federal securities regulation pre-empts the Idaho statute.39 The court con-
sidered as its first inquiry "whether Congress, pursuant to its power to
regulate commerce, has prohibited state regulation of the particular as-
pects of commerce involved in this case."'4 Since congressional enactments
override only state laws with which they conflict rather than excluding all
state legislation in the same field, the court's task was " 'to determine
whether, under the circumstances of this particular case, [the state's] law
stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full
purposes and objectives of Congress.' Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52.'"
The court determined that this statutory scheme does conflict with the
federal statute in various aspects. The "cornerstone" of congressionally
mandated investor protection "was the law's deliberate neutrality among

30. Id.
31. Id. at 1269.
32. 357 U.S. 235 (1958).
33. 15 U.S.C.A. §78aa (1971).
34. 15 U.S.C.A. §78bb (1971).
35. 577 F.2d at 1271.
36. Id. at 1272.
37. 28 U.S.C.A. §1391(b) (1976).
38. 577 F.2d at 1273.
39. Id. at 1275.
40. Id. at 1274, quoting Jones v. Rath Packing Co., 430 U.S. 519 (1977).
41. Id. at 1275.
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the contestants in a tender offer."' 2 The Idaho statute, on the other hand,
provided definite advantages to incumbent management. And,
"[ilnstead of relying upon investors' decisions after full disclosure, Idaho
relies upon the business judgment of corporate directors with a fiduciary
duty to their shareholders."" Hence, "Idaho's statute is preempted, be-
cause the market approach to investor protection adopted by Congress and
the fiduciary approach adopted by Idaho are incompatible.""

The court also held the Idaho takeover statute invalid under the Com-
merce Clause. In doing so, the court rejected McEldowney's contention
that Congress consented in §28 of the Exchange Act "to state takeover laws
that might otherwise contravene the commerce clause. . . .Rather than
allowing violations of the commerce clause, §28 appears to direct only that
federal securities law should not be interpreted as a wholesale displace-
ment of state securities regulation,"'" but "[tihe jurisdiction preserved in
§28 is that 'of state security commissions to regulate transactions within
their own borders' "46 whereas here, Idaho "controls transactions made
throughout the world."" Instead that court followed Pike v. Bruce Church,
Inc.,"5 in which the U.S. Supreme Court said, "[w]here the statute regu-
lates even-handedly to effectuate a legitimate local public interest, and its
effects on interstate commerce are only incidental, it will be upheld unless
the burden imposed on such commerce is clearly excessive in relation to
the putative local benefits."'" In the case at hand, there may have been
legitimate as well as nonacceptable local interests to be served by the
Idaho takeover statute, depending upon the identification of the interest
to be served and the means of regulation. The court found that whatever
the "legitimate local purposes," a letter written by the Idaho Department
of Finance of "March 21, 1977 delayed an interstate tender offer that would
otherwise have gone forward. That action in itself not only had a substan-
tial impact on interstate commerce, it stopped over 31 million dollars of
interstate commerce." In addition, the court found Idaho's extraterrito-
rial approach to tender offer regulation "has an inherent impact on inter-
state commerce."'" Finally, the court said that compliance with Idaho's
statute may violate New York's statute.

The court's final step under Pike was to determine "whether the legiti-
mate local purposes served by Idaho's takeover statute justified that law's

42. Id. at 1277.
43. Id. at 1279 (emphasis in original).
44. Id.
45. Id. at 1281.
46. Id. (emphasis in original), quoting, H.R. REP. No. 85, 73d Cong., 1st Sess. 10 (1933).
47. Id.
48. 397 U.S. 137 (1970).
49. 577 F.2d at 1282.
50. Id. at 1284 (emphasis in original).
51. Id.
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substantial impact on interstate commerce. '
52 The court considered the

following factors in balancing the burdens and benefits of Idaho's interest
in protecting its investors. The interest was "substantially diluted because
Idaho has little reason to protect the large majority of the shareholders
affected by the takeover act" ' in this case. The supposed benefits of the
Idaho takeover statute were not certain, and indeed shareholders "could
be harmed by the delay if during the waiting period the offeror reduces the
offer or abandons altogether a bid shareholders would want to accept if
they had a chance."" Idaho, by requiring additional disclosure, may assist
some shareholders and confuse others. In a tender offer situation "the key
relationship is that between the price offered and the value of the target
under current management." Because Idaho's extraterritorial regulation
of tender offers could interfere with securities transactions all over the
country, and here halted over thirty-one million dollars of interstate com-
merce, and additionally would have compelled a non-Idaho offeror to make
burdensome disclosures beyond those required by federal law, the burdens
were disproportionate to the legitimate benefits the Idaho takeover law
provided." It was consequently invalid under the Commerce Clause.

Judge Godbold dissented, arguing, inter alia, that personal jurisdiction
should not be sustained under the Texas long arm statute because "the
defendant [had] not purposefully availed himself of the benefits and pro-
tection of Texas law;" 7 and even the effects of defendant's regulation in
Texas were "more attenuated [in] quality than [would] support personal
jurisdiction. '"5 Godbold based his decision primarily upon Kulko v. Supe-
rior Court in which "the Supreme Court concluded that jurisdiction based
solely on causing an effect in the state was unreasonable where the cause
of action arose from neither the defendant's causing physical injury in the
state nor his commercial transactions in interstate commerce."60

The dissent criticized the majority's effects test because there are other
state laws and regulations having "great extraterritorial effects"'" and in
any event the majority left "unclear what is the exact effects test that they
use," concluding "it is difficult to separate the majority's jurisdictional
test from a substantive inquiry into the reasonableness of the statute. "62

Judge Godbold attacked the majority's determination that subject mat-

52. Id. at 1285.
53. Id.
54. Id. (emphasis in original).
55. Id. at 1286.
56. Id.
57. Id. at 1288.
58. Id.
59. - U.S. -, 98 S. Ct. 1690, 56 L. Ed. 2d 132 (1978).
60. 577 F.2d at 1289.
61. Id. at 1291.
62. Id.
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ter jurisdiction exists under §28 of the Exchange Act. After quoting the
provisions of §28(a), he stated that the "proviso does not impose a liability
for the enactment or enforcement of preempted state law, it does not create
a duty to refrain from such conduct, and it does not make such conduct a
violation of the Act. '8 3

The dissent challenged the majority's finding that venue was properly
determined in Texas merely because of the "restraining effect" of Idaho's
regulatory activities, and cited a number of cases in which there was more
involved, such as some act of transmission or reception of an, interstate
communication to support venue in the forum district.4 He concluded,
however, if §27 did confer subject matter jurisdiction, venue would be
proper because of a letter sent by Idaho officials into Texas as part of
their regulatory efforts. 5

II. AN IMPLIED PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR DAMAGES EXISTS UNDER THE

INVESTMENT ADvIsoRs ACT

Wilson v. First Houston Investment Corp."6 was an appeal from dis-
missal of an action against plaintiff's investment advisor brought under
§214 of the Investment Advisor's Act of 1940,17 (IAA), as well as under Rule
10b-5. Plaintiff alleged he had maintained a stock portfolio. After reading
and relying on articles representing that defendant utilized a system of
computer analysis of the market with which it promptly eliminated stocks
not meeting certain performance standards, plaintiff executed a power of
attorney giving defendant authority to manage his stock portfolio."

The court noted that §206, does not expressly provide for a private right
of action for damages. However, The court relied on Cort v. Ash 6 and
applied the four factors that must be considered in determining whether
to infer a private remedy:

First, is the plaintiff "one of the class for whose especial benefit the
statute was enacted . . .?" Second, is there any indication of legislative

63. Id. at 1292.
64. Hooper v. Mountain State Securities Corp., 282 F.2d 195, 204 (5th Cir. 1960); Hilge-

man v. National Ins. Co. of America, 547 F.2d 298 (5th Cir. 1977); Texas Gulf Sulphur Co.
v. Ritter, 371 F.2d 145 (10th Cir. 1967); Mayer v. Development Corp. of America, 396 F. Supp.
917 (D. Del. 1975); Sarratt v. Walker, 405 F. Supp. 132 (D.S.C. 1972).

65. 577 F.2d at 1293.
66. 566 F.2d 1235 (5th Cir. 1978).
67. 15 U.S.C.A. §80b-14 (1971).
68. Plaintiff's original complaint was brought under the IAA and Rule 10b-5. The motion

to dismiss was granted with leave to amend, which plaintiff did; plaintiff again attempted
to state a lob-5 claim without reasserting his claim under the IAA. The court held he did
not waive his right to appeal the order dismissing the claim under the IAA by filing an
amended complaint that failed to make reference to that alleged cause of action. 566 F.2d at
1237.

69. 422 U.S.66 (1975).
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intent, explicit or implicit, either to create such a remedy or to deny one?
. ..Third, is it consistent with the underlying purposes of the legislative
scheme to imply such a remedy for the plaintiff?.... And finally, is the
cause of action one traditionally relegated to state law, in an area basically
the concern of the States, so that it would be inappropriate to infer a cause
of action based solely on federal law? 0

The court concluded that it was necessary to imply a cause of action to
achieve the goals of Congress, and that "[t]o deny investors a right of
action for damages incurred as a direct result of fraudulent advisory prac-
tices would undermine this purpose." 7'

Judge Hill dissented," arguing separation of powers precluded implica-
tion of the private remedy and aligning himself with the concurring and
dissenting opinion in Abramhamson v. Fleshner.71

III. PLEDGE OF SECURITES As LoAN CoLLATERAL: A PURCHASE OR SALE?

The court ruled twice in 1978 that a pledge of securities as loan collateral
does not constitute a purchase or sale under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act. In Reid v. Hughes,7 plaintiff appealed the lower court's
dismissal of his complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can
be granted. Plaintiff alleged that he owned 5.9% of the common stock of
Weatherby Engineering Company (Weatherby). The remainder of the
Weatherby stock was owned by defendants IDSO Investments, Inc. (80%),
Watler (9.5%), and Dorsey (1%). Plaintiff alleged that H.D. Hughes,
through IDSO, a family holding company, dominated Weatherby. The
alleged causes of action arose out of the acquisition of all the outstanding
stock of Johnson-Loggins, Inc. (JLI) from its parent corporation, First
Realty Investment Corp. (FRI), with Z Corporation being the ultimate
recipient of this stock. In order to finance the acquisition of JLI, defen-
dants caused cash and assests of Weatherby to be committed to finance
the purchase of JLI stock from FRI. Z Corporation was incorporated on
November 18, 1974. In exchange for 60% of the stock of Z Corporation,
IDSO, Watler, and Dorsey transferred their Weatherby stock to Z Corpora-
tion.

The crux of plaintiff's complaint is that as of November 30, 1974, Weath-
erby had assests totaling $13,700,216 of which $6,572,734 was in cash, but
that the defendants caused Weatherby to issue promissory notes, transfer
cash and pledge certificates of deposits totaling $4,000,000 in order to
enable Z Corporation to purchase the stock of JLI. It is alleged that all

70. 566 F.2d at 1239 (emphasis in original).
71. Id. at 1243.
72. Id. at 1245.
73. 568 F.2d 862 (2d Cir. 1977).
74. 578 F.2d 634 (5th Cir. 1978).
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this was done without consideration or for insufficient consideration to
Weatherby.

5

The court concluded that nowhere did plaintiff allege "that either he or
Weatherby bought or sold securities.""6 Plaintiff contended that Weath-
erby's pledging of certificates of deposit and giving promissory notes made
it a seller of securities within the meaning of the Exchange Act. The court
disagreed and held:

While it may be true that in certain situations a certificate of deposit can
be a security as that term is used in the Act, there is absolutely no support
for the proposition that a mere pledge of a security in circumstances such
as those alleged would constitute a purchase or sale thereof within the
meaning of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5."

In National Bank of Commerce v. All American Assurance Co.," Mc-
Ingvale Associates General Agency, Inc. (Associates) and its subsidiaries
were engaged in the sale and brokerage of insurance, subject to regulation
by the Texas Insurance Board and Commissioner. In 1973, its board sought
new capitalization. Messrs. Anderson, Taylor, and Thibaut were interested
in purchasing Associates, of which ninety percent of the common stock was
owned by George C. McIngvale, Sr. (Mclngvale). The purchasers con-
trolled All American Assurance Co. (All American). At that time, Mc-
Ingvale's stock was pledged to the National Bank of Commerce as partial
security for a $2,000,000 loan to Associates. National Bank would not re-
lease the stock unless the debt that it secured was refinanced. The princi-
pals thereupon arranged for the National Bank to advance $2.25 million
to McIngvale in exchange for a promissory note executed by Mclngvale
and a pledge of 2,250,000 shares of newly created Class B common stock
of Associates. The advance by National Bank to McIngvale was paid to
Associates' account as the ostensible purchase price of the Class B stock.
However, the stock was worthless since it was issued without authorization
of Associates' board of directors. Subsequently, the financial position of
Associates deteriorated, and in 1975 it was placed in liquidation and adju-
dicated a bankrupt.

National Bank never foreclosed upon the unauthorized Associate stock.
The bank suffered a loss of $1,450,000 on its loan to McIngvale, $800,000
having been repaid prior to default. The bank brought this action under
§17a of the Securities Act,"9 §10b of the Exchange Act,80 and Rule lOb-5. 81

75. Id. at 637.
76. Id.
77. Id. at 638 (emphasis in original).
78. 583 F.2d 1295 (5th Cir. 1978).
79. 15 U.S.C.A. §77q(a) (1971).
80. 15 U.S.C.A. §78j(b) (1971).
81. 17 C.F.R. §240.10b5 (1977).
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The court affirmed the district court's dismissal for lack of federal jurisdic-
tion.

The bank invoked federal jurisdiction, alleging there had been a
"purchase" or "sale" of a "security." The court said that while there are
slight differences between the Securities Act's and the Exchange Act's
wording, the terms are "functionally equivalent" for the purposes of resolv-
ing this issue."2 The court cited Reid v. Hughess for its holding that "there
is absolutely no support for the proposition that a mere pledge of a security
. . . would constitute a purchase or sale thereof within the meaning of
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5."'8 The court distinguished contrary cases in
which a "bank [became] an 'underwriter' when it foreclose[d] and
[sold] unregistered securities previously pledged to it as loan collateral.
Foreclosure and sale in these situations, however, places the stock in the
public area protected by the securities acts." 5

Of interest is the court's discussion of Mallis v. FDIC,16 and United
States v. Gentile."7 The court said that these cases

can hardly be distinguished from the facts in the instant case ....
[These] decisions were grounded upon the rationale that "the pledgee
assumes a very real investment risk that the pledged securities will have
continuing value, a risk that is identical in nature to the risk taken by
investors . . . ." [The] rationale might be a persuasive argument that
the federal securities laws ought to encompass pledges, as well as pur-
chases and sales. It does little to support a decision that they in fact do
cover pledges."8

The court was persuaded that Congress could have included collateral

82. 583 F.2d at 1298.
83. 578 F.2d 634 (5th Cir. 1978).
84. 583 F.2d at 1298 (emphasis in original).
85. Id. at 1299.
86. 568 F.2d 824 (2d Cir. 1977), cert. dismissed, sub nom. Bankers Trust Co. v. Mallis,

435 U.S. 381 (1978).
87. 530 F.2d 461 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 426 U.S. 936 (1976).
88. 583 F.2d at 1299-1300, quoting 530 F.2d at 467. National Bank of Commerce, and the

earlier decision of McClure v. First National Bank, 497 F.2d 490 (5th Cir. 1974), cert. denied
420 U.S. 930 (1975) were not followed by the Sixth Circuit in Mansbach v. Prescott, Ball &
Turben, CCH F.S.L.R. 96,861 (6th Cir. 1979). In Mansbach, the court followed the lead of
the Second Circuit in Mallis v. F.D.I.C., 568 F.2d 824, cert. granted 431 U.S. 928 (1977), cert.
dismissed 435 U.S. 381 (1978) and U.S. v. Gentile, 530 F.2d 461, cert. denied 426 U.S. 936
(1976). However, Mansbach noted the Fifth Circuit's decisions

were careful to limit their holdings to 'mere pledges' of securities to secure a com-
mercial loan. They also emphasized that such a pledge in connection with a bank
loan had no impact on the securities industry. In the instant case, however, the
pledge was not to a bank, but to a securities broker-dealer, and the pledge was not
to secure a loan, but to serve as collateral for securities transactions. Thus, on these
facts, even the restrictive fifth circuit cases do not rule out holding that the pledge
of securities was a "purchase or sale." CCH F.S.L.R. 96,861 at 95,530.

1979]



MERCER LAW REVIEW

pledge transactions by words traditionally used although it did not do this;
the function of protection of investors through federal securities acts is not
affected by a pledge of stock; there are substantial differences in the rights
and privileges of parties in a pledgor/pledgee relationship as compared
with a sale or purchase and "[i]n this case there is no suggestion that the
form of the transaction, a collateral loan, did not represent the substance
of the matter as well." S9

IV. NoTEs As SECURITIES

In both Reid and National Bank of Commerce, supra, plaintiffs con-
tended that federal jurisdiction should be grounded on issuance of notes
falling within the definition of "security." The Exchange Act provides that
the term "security" means "any" note, but judicial decisions have re-
stricted the application of that Act to only notes that are investment in
nature. In Reid the court cited McClure" and said, "this Court explained
that notes which can be deemed securities usually fall within one of two
categories. The first category is those notes which are offered to a class of
investors or are acquired for speculation or investment purposes. The sec-
ond category is when the maker of the note receives investment assets in
return for the note."" The court was not able to tell from the face of the
complaint whether the notes issued by Weatherby fell into either of those
categories, but concluded "that the mere allegation by the plaintiff in his
complaint that Weatherby issue promissory notes [was] grossly insuffi-
cient to establish the jurisdictional basis for his cause of action since,
standing alone, it in no way alleges that Weatherby was a seller of securi-
ties."" Nor was Weatherby a buyer of securities. The complaint alleged
that the entire transaction was entered into "in order to enable Z Corpora-
tion to purchase the stock of Johnson-Loggins from FRI ... ,,n Nor did
plaintiff contend Weatherby "purchased" the JLI stock, "either directly
or indirectly through a conduit.""

The court also rejected plaintiff's contention in National Bank of Com-
merce, supra, that a note was a security. 5 The court concluded that it was
bound by Bellah, supra, and McClure, supra, decisions resting on the
'''commercial-investment dichotomy,' which restricts the scope of
'security' to those notes which have the character of an investment and
excludes those of a commercial nature."" The court refused on three bases

89. Id.
90. McClure v. First Nat'i Bank, 497 F.2d 490 (5th Cir. 1974).
91. 578 F.2d at 638.
92. Id.
93. Id. at 637.
94. Id.
95. 583 F.2d at 1301.
96. Id.
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to adopt the so-called literal approach of the Second Circuit Court of
Appeals in Exchange National Bank of Chicago v. Touche Ross & Co."
First, prior case law can only be reversed by an en banc hearing; second,
the Supreme Court in United Housing Foundation, Inc. v. Forman"0 appar-
ently discounted the literal approach; and third, it was not certain that the
result would be different even within the Second Circuit approach. This
is because the transaction bore "a strong family resemblance" to cases in
which that court would regard a note as not being within the antifraud
provisions under the statute's admonition that a note is a security unless
"the context otherwise requires.""

V. PURCHASE OF AN INTEREST IN A MOBILE HOME PARK AND A COMMODITY

FUTURES CONTRACT ARE NOT SECURITIES

In Commander's Palace Park Associates v. Girard and Pastel Corp.,"0 a
general partnership owned a mobile home park purchased by plaintiff, who
on the same day. contracted with one of the seller's general partners for
day-to-day management. Previously, the purchaser had contracted with
Girard and Pastel Corporation (GPC) for overall management of the park.
"From its point of view Park Associates would purchase the park by mak-
ing a small down payment and undertaking its note to GPC. At the same
time the park would be leased to GPC for a fixed return each year."'' The
court held that this was not the sale of an investment contract because
"the seller, in offering the park for sale, did not lead the purchaser to
expect that management arranged by the seller would provide the sole or
the crucial efforts needed to produce profits."'0 2 There was nothing that
indicated the seller was associated with the GPC management contract.

In Moody v. Bache & Co., Inc.,'0 plaintiff opened a commodities account
with defendant and sued for alleged trading abuses. Before reaching its
decision, the court noted that not all commodities futures contracts are
securities under the securities acts. Only those that meet the test set out
in SEC v. WJ. Howey Co. 101 are securities. However, the court recognized
that

discretionary accounts in commodities futures contracts-as opposed to
the futures contracts themselves-may be "investment contracts" and
thus "securities" for purposes of the securities acts. This is because such

97. 544 F.2d 1126 (2d Cir. 1976).
98. 421 U.S. 837 (1975).
99. 583 F.2d at 1301.
100. 572 F.2d 1084 (5th Cir. 1978).
101. Id. at 1085.
102. Id. at 1085-86.
103. 570 F.2d 523 (5th Cir. 1978).
104. 328 U.S. 293 (1946).
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discretionary accounts may contain the Howey elements of investment,
common enterprise, and dependence solely on the efforts of others. 0 1

The court then found that at most, only the commodities account itself was
a discretionary account and not the individual commodities futures
traded. Relying on this, the court found that Bache was not liable since
"with respect to the account itself. . . Bache was not a broker or a dealer
but was rather at most in the position of an issuer or seller."''0

VI. RELIANCE As CAUSATION

A. In-Market Disseminated Information

Rifkin v. Crow"7 presented an appeal from a defendant's successful mo-
tion for summary judgment. The trial court's decision was based on a lack
of 'some element of general reliance by plaintiff' on the reports released
by defendants."''0 8 The appeals court reversed and held the district court
had misapplied Simon v. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith, Inc. '"
The court found plaintiff had offered sufficient evidence of general reliance
to create an issue of fact."0

Plaintiff contended he was entitled to damages suffered by himself and
all persons who purchased common stock of Recognition Equipment, Inc.
on the open market between specified dates, "at prices allegedly inflated
by misleading financial and other statements disseminated by Recogni-
tion.""' Plaintiff had relied on various media releases, including an ac-
count of a speech by Recognition's president that the company had
achieved a long awaited turnaround; plaintiff "took into account" infor-
mation in trade journals such as Moody's, Electronic News, Standard and
Poor's, and Business Week. Of plaintiff's several purchases, one was based
upon the company's annual reports and a transcript of the president's
speech. One was made in reliance on a Barron's article, a semi-annual
company report to shareholders, a press release reporting a substantial
contract, a series of Investors News Reports sent to the company share-
holders, and a Wall Street Transcript of another speech by the company's
president. Plaintiff considered a Wall Street Journal article reporting that
the company would have taken a profit for the relevant year but for an
accounting change and extraordinary loss items. Plaintiff's last purchase
was made in reliance on an article in the New York Times. "By 'reliance,'

105. 570 F.2d at 526.
106. Id. at 527.
107. 574 F.2d 256 (5th Cir. 1978).
108. Id. at 257.
109. 482 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1973).
110. 574 F.2d at 259.
111. Id. at 258.
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Rifkin said he meant that he saw and read the material and it was a factor
in his determination to buy the Recognition stock.""' Plaintiff also relied
upon the fact that the market price of a stock reflects the company's
financial statements in its inherent value when circulated to the general
investment community, and that investors are entitled to rely on the fair-
ness of prices set by the general investment community. The court held
that his testimony, if accepted by the trier of fact, would support recovery
under "even the most restricted reliance requirement."1 3

The court then discussed Simon, supra, which had foreclosed a 10b-5
action because there was no "general reliance" on a stockbroker's alleged
misrepresentations. First, Simon was based on the finding that

nothing said by the broker was a factor in causing Simon to purchase his
stock, [therefore] nothing omitted by the broker could be a factor either.
Simon, then, was a fact case, which merely applied the simple rule that
before a defendant can be charged with a plaintiffs losses, defendant had
to have played some part in causing those losses."'

The court understood Simon's "general reliance" requirements to mean
"that in a general way, plaintiff must have made a purchase relying on
defendant's duty to disclose material information to plaintiff."'

1
5

The Rifkin court said that the Fifth Circuit has not yet decided whether
reliance should be presumed in fraud on the market situations. It indicated
that Simon may be inapplicable to determination of liability under such
a theory when a plaintiff contends that "inaccuracies and omissions of the
statements caused a distortion in the market which Rifkin claims misled
him as to the fair market value of the stock.""'

B. Proof Of No Reliance Disproves Causation And Precludes Plaintiff's
Recovery

In Moody, supra, plaintiff contended that §4b of the Commodities Ex-
change Act"' entitled him to relief comparable to that provided in a pri-
vate action for a securities violation under Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act.
The court observed that several courts have ruled that the Act impliedly
authorizes private actions, however,

like other tort actions it would require some showing of a causal link
between the violation and the damage to the complainant. Here, as in the
lOb-5 action, the jury's finding of no causation would preclude plaintiff's

112. Id. at 259.
113. Id. at 260.
114. Id. at 261 (emphasis in original).
115. Id. n.1. Moody is consistent with the Rifkin explanation of Simon.
116. Id. at 263.
117. 7 U.S.C.A. §6b (Supp. 1979).
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recovery, even on the supposition that section 4b does create a private
right of action,"'

The court concluded that whatever reliance plaintiff had placed on any
misrepresentation initially, by the time of the disputed transactions, those
misrepresentations, and any reliance thereon, were inconsequential be-
cause of "plaintiff's own close involvement in the transactions."" 9

VII. TRANSFER OF MANAGEMENT OF SECURITIES PORTFOLIO DOES NOT

SATISFY REQUIREMENT THAT ALLEGED FRAUD BE "IN CONNECTION

WITH THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF SECURITIES"

In Wilson, supra, plaintiff had transferred management and control of
his portfolio to an investment advisor who purported to rely on a system
of computer analysis of the market to control and manage the portfolio.
Plaintiff alleged that defendant failed to reveal that the computer analysis
system was not being used during the time pertinent to the management
of his portfolio, or that it had never been fully utilized. The court held that
''any purchase and sale which took place incident to this arrangement was
too remote to satisfy the 'in connection with the purchase and sale' require-
ment as contemplated by Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421
U.S. 723. .... ,120

VIII. PROCEDURE: DENIAL OF CLASS CERTIFICATION

In Garonzik v. Shearson Hayden Stone, Inc.,21 the court had to consider
whether an attorney who is a sophisticated investor could fairly represent
a purported class. In the trial court, plaintiff was denied a class certifica-
tion in a 10b-5 action. The court of appeals affirmed.

Before reaching its decision, the court said, "Although we often refuse
to accept an appeal of the denial of class certification, even when, as in
this case, the district court certified the issue as controlling under Rule
54(b), Fed. R. Civ. P., we take this appeal on the merits in order to finally
resolve the question."' The court decided not to apply a per se rule in this
case, thus aligning itself with the Seventh Circuit.'23 The court determined
that plaintiffs admission that he is a sophisticated investor raised a de-
fense to plaintiff's claim which deprived him of the typicality of the class
required for class representation. This might not have prevented class
certification had the district judge been so inclined, but it was sufficient

118. 570 F.2d at 529.
119. Id. at 528.
120. 566 F.2d at 1243.
121. 574 F.2d 1220 (5th Cir. 1978).
122. Id.
123. See Susman v. Lincoln American Corp., 561 F.2d 86 (7th Cir. 1977).
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to protect the district court's decision on appeal under the "abuse of discre-
tion" standard of review.' 2'

IX. COMMISSION ACTIONS

A. Scienter

In SEC v. Blatt,2 5 the court held that to justify an injunction on the
basis of past securities law violations, the SEC must prove scienter. The
action concerned two acquisitions of Corporation of the Americas, Ltd.
(COAL) stock by Exquisite Form Industries, Inc. (Exquisite). Blatt, chief
counsel to COAL, was the principal figure in both acquisitions. In 1967,
Exquisite acquired approximately ninety-two percent of COAL's outstand-
ing stock. Exquisite's accountants concluded that that amount repre-
sented sufficient ownership to permit it to "pool" its assets with COAL's,
which Exquisite was eager to do. Subsequently, Blatt solicited a former
president of COAL to secure the purchase of various COAL shares he had
sold or given away to some sixteen shareholders. Through misrepresen-
tations, the former president induced them to sell 47,730 COAL shares.
Blatt arranged for the purchase through a Lichtenstein trust controlled by
Blatt's client, Pullman. Exquisite's accountants determined that in order
to give a "pooling-of-interests" accounting of the COAL acquisition it was
better for Exquisite to own ninety-five percent of the outstanding COAL
shares. Thereafter, Blatt negotiated the sale of Pullman's COAL stock to
Exquisite at a profit of $315,000 on Pullman's six-month investment.

The trial court held that Blatt and Pullman violated §10b of the Ex-
change Act by their failure to disclose to the sixteen shareholders who had
sold their stock to Pullman the material fact that at that time Exquisite
would need the additional COAL shares for the purpose of "pooling. "126

After Exquisite's acquisition of ninety-two percent of COAL, Blatt and
Udell, counsel to COAL, were informed that Exquisite proposed a merger
by which it would acquire one hundred percent of COAL's outstanding
shares. The merger was approved on June 30, 1969, at a meeting of COAL's
shareholders upon strong recommendation of its management. As late as
May 6, 1969, Blatt had held 13,700 shares of COAL as trustee for himself
and Udell. On May 6, 1969, Blatt transferred title to Naitove as trustee.
His explanation for this change was that he intended to object to the
merger and did not wish to embarrass Exquisite. On June 26, 1969, Nai-
tove, as trustee, objected pursuant to the Florida dissenters' rights statute,
and eventually Blatt negotiated a settlement of the Naitove trust objection
by which the trust received one share of Exquisite for one share of COAL

124. 574 F.2d at 1221.
125. 583 F.2d 1325 (5th Cir. 1978).
126. Id. at 1328.
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stock. The trial court found that Blatt and Udell's failure to disclose their
beneficial ownership of COAL's shares held in the Naitove trust to Exqui-
site was an omission of a material fact and therefore violated §10b and
Rule 10b-5.'"

The court reviewed the evidence introduced and after applying the
"clearly erroneous" rule, it affirmed.'28 The court then turned to issues
concerning the law applied.

The SEC's theory in the case "was that Exquisite would have been under
a duty to inform the minority shareholders that COAL's counsel believed
the merger to be so unfair as to object on their own behalf, had Exquisite
known of the beneficial ownership"'29 of the Naitove trust shares. In igno-
rance of Blatt's belief that the merger was unfair, "Exquisite told the
COAL shareholders [that] COAL's management had determined the rate
of exchange to be more than fair and 'to generously reflect current val-
ues.' 91130 The court had no trouble in determining "that reasonable share-
holders would have attached great importance to the fact that Blatt in-
tended to dissent and viewed the offer as unfair"' 3' to the extent necessary
to satisfy TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc. 3 2 and Wheat v. Hall.I3

Defendants could take no solace in Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green.'3

While minority shareholders in Blatt had no practical alternative other
than to accept the company's offer or seek statutory appraisal, a "critical
distinction [lay in the fact that] full and fair disclosure [was] provided
by Santa Fe Industries to [its] shareholders. . . .Santa Fe [therefore]
does not control a case in which information .. . is withheld."' 35

In Blatt, the first Fifth Circuit case involving scienter in an injunctive
action since Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder,131 the court concluded that "[iJf
the language and history of §10(b) are dispositive in private damage ac-
tions, the same must also be true in SEC injunctive actions," and that
"[t]o justify an injunction on the basis of past violations the Commission
must prove that the defendant possessed scienter, defined by the Supreme
Court as 'a mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or de-
fraud.' "',31 Moreover, "[wie are confident that 'knowing' conduct satisfies
the scienter requirement."' 38 The court affirmed the trial court's order that

127. Id.
128. Id.
129. Id. at 1330.
130. Id.
131. Id.
132. 426 U.S. 438 (1976).
133. 535 F.2d 874 (5th Cir. 1976).
134. 430 U.S. 462 (1977).
135. 583 F.2d at 1331.
136. 425 U.S. 185 (1976).
137. 583 F.2d at 1333 quoting Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 (1976).
138. Id. at 1334.
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Pullman should disgorge the profits that he had obtained by fraud as
restitution to force him "to give up to the trustee the amount by which he
was unjustly enriched.' ' 39

B. London Commodities Option Is Subject to the Commodities Futures
Trading Commission Act.

In an action brought by the Commodities Futures Trading Commission,
the court held that the Commission has jurisdiction not only over options
and specifically enumerated commodities, but over all other commodity
option transactions including "London commodity options."' 40

"A 'London commodity option' is a contractual right to keep or sell a
specified futures contract for a particular commodity traded on the London
markets at a specified price within a specified period of time."'' Muller,
vice president and director of Economic Research Analysts, was charged
with fraudulently converting and misappropriating to his own use funds
given by his customers to buy London commodity options. The Commis-
sion charged that Muller's actions violated the Commodities Futures
Trading Commission Act of 1974 (Commodities Act)'4 2 and Antifraud Re-
gulation 32.9.14 The court held that London commodities options are
within the regulatory power of the Commission. The Commodities Act
included within its broad definition of commodity, "all other goods and
articles . . . and all services, rights and interests in which contracts for
future delivery are presently or in the future dealt in."'" Traditionally,
§6c(b) subjects option transactions in nonenumerated commodities to reg-
ulations promulgated by the Commission. Moreover, "[t]he Act's defini-
tion of 'interstate commerce' is sufficiently expansive to include the Lon-
don options. The Act broadly defines 'interstate commerce' as commerce
between any state, territory, possession, District of Columbia, 'and any
place outside thereof.' "'45 This was held to be broad enough to include
foreign commerce.

The court affirmed the trial court's injunction prohibiting defendant
from using any funds in his personal or business accounts until the civil
action by the Commission had been decided or terminated. This was not
an injunction from continuing violations of the statute, but from dissipat-
ing the funds allegedly misappropriated. It was within the inherent power
of "a court of equity to order such temporary, ancillary relief in order to

139. Id. at 1335.
140. Commodities Futures Trading Comm'n v. Muller, 570 F.2d 1296 (5th Cir. 1978).
141. Id. at 1298.
142. 7 U.S.C.A. §6c(b) (Supp. 1978).
143. 17 C.F.R. §32.9 (1977).
144. 7 U.S.C.A. §2 (Supp. 1978).
145. 570 F.2d at 1299 (emphasis in original).
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preserve the status quo so that an ultimate decision for the Commission
could be effective.""

X. CRIMINAL CASES

A. Offshore Mutual Funds and European Investors.

In United States v. Kelly,'47 appellant chartered an offshore mutual fund
in Panama. Appellant was president of the fund, Allied Fund for Capital
Appreciation (AFCA), which was managed from Munich, Germany. The
shares of the fund were distributed by Select Distributors (Select), a Mun-
ich firm. Appellant received funds from Select and placed them in Mid-
west National Bank, an institution he had chartered in Panama, and in
his own words, a "proof.""4 The bank's headquarters consisted of an eight-
een by twenty-four foot room furnished with tables and chairs, filing cabi-
nets, a typewriter telex machine, and a small refrigerator.", AFCA received
money from investors throughout the world and in return issued shares in
the fund. The prospectuses and financial statements said AFCA had mil-
lions of dollars worth of blue chip securities which were held by a New
Orleans brokerage firm.

The case arose out of a transaction between appellant and W.R. Pon-
soldt in which 200,000 shares of AFCA were exchanged for all the shares
of Ponsoldt's Schweiz-Deutsch Land Company, which purportedly held
160 acres of property in New Jersey and substantial securities. The AFCA
shares could not be redeemed for one year. In June, 1970, a month after
the preceding transaction, Ponsoldt met with Bloomfield, owner of the
controlling interest in Bloomfield Building Industries, to discuss a trade
of AFCA shares for Bloomfield's controlling interest in BBI. Bloomfield
was concerned that the AFCA shares could not be redeemed for one year,
but Ponsoldt assured him that it applied only to Ponsoldt and not to third
party purchasers, who could nonetheless redeem them in seven days.
Bloomfield accepted this explanation and concluded the contract. How-
ever, when he later tried to redeem the stock he was unsuccessful. After
many months of dealing, Bloomfield and Ponsoldt rescinded the agree-
ment.15'

Appellant was convicted on a three count indictment charging violations
of 18 U.S.C. §2 (1969), 18 U.S.C. §371 (1966), and 18 U.S.C. §2314 (1970)

146. Id. at 1300.
147. 569 F.2d 928 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, - U.S. -, 99 S. Ct. 105, 58 L. Ed. 2d 124

(1978).
148. Id. at 931.
149. Ponsoldt was Kelly's co-defendant. At the close of the Government's case, the court

granted a judgment of acquittal as to Ponsoldt. 569 F.2d at 931 n.1.
150. 569 F.2d at 931.
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for causing and conspiring to cause a person to travel in interstate com-
merce in execution of a scheme to defraud. The court reviewed at length
the evidence found here, and concluded that it was sufficient to demon-
strate a violation of §2314.'1' The court had no trouble concluding that
AFCA was a fraudulently created mutual fund and that its shares were
worthless or nearly so. '5 Appellant and two others compiled the stocks
which AFCA contained by randomly selecting stocks of corporations from
the financial section of a newspaper. The court also found that there was
sufficient evidence to satisfy the requirement of travel in interstate com-
merce and that appellant was the "motivating force" behind Bloomfield's
travels, further, that the interstate transportation requirement of §2314 is
the .'linchpin for federal jurisdiction' providing a constitutional basis for
the exercise of federal power, . . . and does not mandate that the defen-
dant know, or foresee, or intend any movement in interstate commerce.'' 3

B. A Ponzi Scheme

In United States v. Cook,' 5' appellant pleaded guilty to fraud in the offer
for sale of securities in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§77(a), 77(x) (Supp. 1978),
and 18 U.S.C. §2 (1969) and of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341
and 1342 (Supp. 1979). After sentencing, he appealed, challenging the
jurisdiction of the trial court to impose a sentence for the securities count,
arguing that the alleged fraud was committed solely upon foreign inves-
tors, and had no impact upon domestic markets or domestic investors. The
indictment charged that the appellant, while operating out of Dallas,
Texas, defrauded European investors by operating a Ponzi scheme involv-
ing the sale of fractional, undivided working interests in oil and gas wells
located in the United States.15

151. "Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations,
or promises, transports or causes to be transported, or induces any person to travel in, or to
be transported in interstate commerce in the execution or concealment of a scheme or artifice
to defraud that person of money or property having a value of $5,000 or more; . . . [sJhall
be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both." Id. at 933.

152. "the 'bank' which supposedly held the bulk of AFCA's assets was a mere shell
corporation .... " Id. at 934.

153. Id. at 935, quoting United States v. Ludwig, 523 F.2d. 705, 707 (8th Cir. 1975).
154. 573 F.2d 281 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, - U.S. -. , 99 S. Ct. 119, 58 L. Ed. 2d 132

(1978).
155. "In a Ponzi scheme, a swindler promises a large return for investments made with

him. The swindler actually pays the promised return on the initial investments in order to
attract additional investors. The payments are not financed through the success of the under-
lying venture but are taken from the corpus of the newly attracted investments. The swindler
then takes an appropriate time to abscond with the outstanding investments. As one author
has described it, 'he borrowed from Peter to pay Paul. And it worked . . . until Peter got
wise."' Id. at 282, n.3.
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Investing contracts were signed in Europe and returned to Dallas, where
the agreement was recorded in the United States. Payments based on false
production figures were made to initial investors, until the scheme col-
lapsed. Leaving "for another day an attempt to formulate the outer peri-
meter of American jurisdiction,"' 56 the court found that "[tihe investors
invested in American securities-obviously Congress intended jurisdiction
over American securities, regardless to whom the securities are sold.",57

In United States v. Carroll,5 8 appellants were convicted "of making
fraudulent and misleading statements in the offer and sale of securities
and of having aided and abetted in using the United States mails to further
the fraud."' 159 Appellants were convicted because of their actions during the
public sale of stock in the Coal Creek Mining Company, which they con-
trolled. Investors were told the proceeds would be used to develop mining
properties, and instead they were used for other unrelated personal pur-
poses. Appellant McFarland (whose conviction was reversed) was con-
victed under a count charging violation of 15 U.S.C. §§77(a), 77(x) (Supp.
1978) and 18 U.S.C. §1341 (Supp. 1978).

The court found that the trial court had incorrectly included a charge
against McFarland of conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2314.(1970)."0
This was a violation of the fifth amendment requirement that a person has
to be indicted by a grand jury before he can be charged with a particular
crime. The trial court's charge had the effect of amending the indictment,
a practice the Supreme Court has proscribed.'' The government argued
that this was harmless error but the court, quoting Chapman v. Cali-
fornia,' said "'there are some constitutional rights so basic to a fair
trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless. . .. ' 11"'3

Applying the test of whether "reasonable minds could conclude that the
evidence is inconsistent with the hypothesis of the accused's innocence,"
the remaining appellants were found responsible for forming the mining
corporation and selling its stock through a prospectus that contained sev-
eral misstatements of fact.'64

156. Id. at 283.
157. Id.
158. 582 F.2d 942 (5th Cir. 1978).
159. Id.
160. Id. at 945.
161. Ex Parte Bain, 121 U.S. 1 (1887).
162. 386 U.S. 18 (1967).
163. 582 F.2d at 944, quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967).
164. Id. at 946.
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